# 2011-CA-00147 T

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1.	Mississippi Farm Bureau Insurance Company	Appellant
2.	Jimmy Moore	Appellant
3.	John Lagrone	Appellant
4.	Goodloe T. Lewis, Esq.	Counsel for Appellants
5.	Amanda Povall Tailyour, Esq.	Counsel for Appellants
4.	Mississippi Department of Mental Health	Appellee
5.	J. Cal Mayo, Esq.	Counsel for Appellee

B.	STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF	ARGUMENTS6
LAW AND ARC	GUMENT7
A.	STANDARD OF REVIEW
В.	There is no tort immunity for Defendant pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d), because Defendant cannot satisfy either prong of discretionary exemption analysis
	1. BECKWITH FAILED TO ADHERE TO THE STATUTORY MANDATE OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS AS PERTAINING TO FIRE SAFETY WITHIN THE GROUP HOME AS PROMULGATED BY DEFENDANT; THEREFORE, THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT DEFENDANT SATISFIED THE FIRST PRONG OF DISCRETIONARY ANALYSIS
	2. ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT BECKWITH'S DUTIES REGARDING FIRE SAFETY IN THE GROUP HOME AND THE SUPERVISION OF THE PATIENTS LIVING IN THE GROUP HOME WERE DISCRETIONARY, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT DEFENDANT SATISFIED THE SECOND PRONG OF DISCRETIONARY ANALYSIS
C.	THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT BECKWITH FAILED TO EXERCISE ORDINARY CARE AS SET FORTH IN THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF NORTH MISSISSIPPI REGIONAL CENTER; THEREFORE, DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT
Conclusion	
CERTIFICATE (	OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES PAGES
Brown v. Baptist Memorial Hospital - DeSoto, Inc., et. al, 806 So.2d 1131 (Miss. 2002) 18
Dancy v. East Miss. State Hospital, 944 So.2d 10 (Miss. 2006)
Fortenberry v. City of Jackson, Nos. 2008-CT-00270-SCT, 2008-CT-00271-SCT, 2011 WL
448354, at *2 (Miss. 2011)
Pritchard v. Von Houten and The U. of S. Miss., 960 So.2d 568 (Ct. App. 2007)
Miss. Dept. of Mental Health and Ellisville State School v. Shaw, 45 So.3d 656 (Miss. 2010) 7
Miss. Dept. of Mental Health v. Hall, 936 So.2d 917 (Miss. 2006) 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 17
Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Cargile, 847 So.2d 258, 262 (Miss. 2003)
United States v. Gaubert, 499 U. S. 315 (1991)
STATUTES/RULES
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 22-46-9(1)(d) (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-1 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-7 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-11 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-21-102(6) (Rev. 2005)
Miss. R. Civ. P 56 passim

# TREATISES AND LAW JOURNAL ARTICLES

Jim Frasier, Recent Developments in Mississippi Tort Claims Act
Law Pertaining to Notice of Claim and Exemptions to Immunity
Issues: Substantial/Strict Compliance, Discretionary Acts, Police
Protection and Dangerous Conditions, 76 Miss. L. J. 973 (Spring, 2007) 8, 10, 14, 15
Jeffrey Jackson and Mary Miller, ENCYCLOPEDIA OF MISS. LAW,
§ 67:35 (Sept. 2010)
Robert A. Weems & Robert M. Weems, MISSISSIPPI LAW OF
TORTS § 16.22 (DEC. 2009)

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Court erred in failing to find that the actions of Christi Blount Beckwith ("Beckwith") in the supervision of the residents of North Mississippi Regional Center's group home were ministerial duties, not discretionary acts; therefore, Defendant was not immune from tort liability pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d)(2010).
- 2. Whether the Court erred in finding that the acts and omissions of Beckwith implicated social policy; thus, satisfying the second prong of the public policy function test in analyzing MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d)(2010) and as adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court.
- 3. Whether the Court erred in failing to find that Beckwith failed to exercise ordinary care as set forth in the rules and regulations of North Mississippi Regional Center as mandated by the Mississippi Legislature; therefore, Defendant was negligent.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Course of Proceedings And Disposition In The Court Below.

Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company ("Farm Bureau"), Jimmy Moore ("Moore"), and John Lagrone ("Lagrone") commenced this action in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County on January 30, 2008, seeking damages to a property destroyed by fire that was owned by Moore and Lagrone and insured by Farm Bureau. R:1-4. Defendant filed its *Answer and Affirmative Defenses* on March 12, 2008, and discovery followed. R:5-8. At the close of discovery, Defendant filed its *Motion for Summary Judgment* on January 3, 2010 and its brief in support on November 8, 2010. R:10-55, 58-68. On November 15, 2010, Plaintiffs replied to Defendant's motion. R:69-87. On November 22, 2010 Plaintiffs filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. R:88-125. On November 29, 2010 Defendant filed a supplement to its motion. R:126-150. On December 1, 2010 Plaintiffs filed its *Rebuttal in Further Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment*. R:151-179.

On January 18, 2011 the lower court granted Defendant's motion for summary judgment and denied Plaintiffs' cross-motion. The lower court held that Beckwith – an employee of Defendant – was exercising her discretion while supervising the residents of the group home when the fire occurred; therefore, Defendant is immune from liability pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (2010). R:180-183. On January 27, 2010 Appellants filed a *Notice of Appeal* to this court. R:184-185.

#### B. Statement of the Facts

The instant action rises out of the total loss of a rental house located at 1312 Beanland Drive in Oxford, Mississippi. R:2. John Lagrone ("Lagrone") and Jimmy Moore ("Moore") owned the house, and Farm Bureau provided fire and casualty insurance coverage for the property. *Id.* At the

time of the fire, five (5) adult individuals with developmental disabilities – Patrick Chapman, Brian Palmertree, Eddie McNeal, Ben Magnum and Bobby Keen – occupied the house. *Id.* All five tenants were clients of Defendant, North Mississippi Regional Center ("NMRC"). *Id.* 

Defendant employed Christi Blount, nee Beckwith ("Beckwith"), as a Direct Care Worker. R:97-98. As a Direct Care Worker, Beckwith had a duty to assist the residents of the group home with their day-to-day living. R:99. Beckwith testified that it was also her duty to be present in the group home in order to prevent an accident or an emergency. R:10. According to Beckwith, the residents were under constant supervision. R:102. Beckwith further testified that the residents were not allowed to cook without supervision. R:114.

In order to work as a Direct Care Worker, Defendant required Beckwith to take a two-week training program that provided first aid training, CPR and fire safety. R:103. As a result of that training by Defendant, Beckwith had a duty to conduct monthly fire drills within the group home. R:104. Defendant also required Beckwith to watch a video entitled "Fire Prevention," which cautioned against leaving flammable objects on top of the stove. R:91, Exhibit B, Video "Fire Prevention". According to the video, fire safety was an issue and concern for Defendant; therefore, Defendant charged its employees – like Beckwith – with a duty to take specific precautions in order to prevent fires within the group home. *Id.* Moreover, Defendant provided Beckwith with a manual entitled "Alternative Living Arrangements" (ALA Handbook"), which explicitly set forth Beckwith's duties in order to prevent a fire in the group home. R:81-82,104, 152.

The purpose of the ALA Handbook was "to explain in everyday terms the laws, regulations, standards, policies and procedures which govern the operation of the ALA program." R:152; 167.

As such, Defendant's group home — housed and maintained in the property owned by Plaintiffs

Moore and Lagrone and insured by Farm Bureau — was under the supervision and control of

Defendant's ALA program. R:114-115.

In order for Beckwith to become a Direct Care Worker, Defendant required Beckwith to successfully complete training and staff development. R:168. In addition to the training, Beckwith had to follow specific and explicit regulations to provide for a safe environment for the group home by following fire and health regulations. R:169. The manual included Beckwith's duties in case of a fire in the group home. R:81. As an example, Beckwith had a duty to conduct monthly fire drills in the group home. R:81, 169. As stated in the video "Fire Safety" and the ALA Handbook, Defendant strategically placed fire extinguishers, smoke detectors and carbon monoxide detectors throughout the group home. R:170.

Moreover, according to the ALA Handbook: "Appropriate client supervision is the primary duty of staff at all times." R:171. Specifically the ALA Handbook states **that food preparation should be visible to staff**. *Id*. (emphasis provided). Further, the ALA Handbook states the following:

No clients should be allowed to operate any appliance, piece of equipment, or tool unless the program supervisor has determined that he/she can do so safely. **Under no circumstances should any group home client ever handle fuel of any type or any other flammable substance**.

*Id.* (emphasis provided).

On April 22, 2007 Beckwith was on duty as the Direct Care Worker for the five residents of Defendant's group home at 1312 Beanland Drive in Oxford, Mississippi. R:2, 69, 117. According to Beckwith, she and the residents began cooking supper at approximately 5:00 p.m. R:117. In describing the events leading up to the fire, Beckwith wrote – the day after the fire – in the *Serious Incident Report* the following:

On 4/22/07 at approximately 5:00 p.m., staff Christie Blount [Beckwith], and clients, began cooking supper. We put baked beans in the oven and took hamburgers and hot

dogs out to the grill on the deck. Pryor [sic] to that we had put french [sic] fries and oil out to cook after we had finished on the grill. Oil was in pan, on a burner, and fries were laying on the counter top. The burner was not turned on, as that would be the last thing to be cooked, when we finished on the grill.

R:117.

On the outside deck of the house, Beckwith heard a noise "that sounded like a loud bang." R:117-118. Reacting to the noise, Beckwith went inside the house and discovered a fire in the kitchen area. R:107; 118. "There was just fire all the way around the stove area..." R:109. "I ran inside the house, and the whole stove, wall behind the stove, and cabinets above the stove was [sic] ablaze." R:118. The next day Beckwith admitted to her supervisor at NMRC that she believed that one of the residents had turned on the burner under the pan filled with grease and left it to ignite with flames. R:116.

The Mississippi Legislature charged the State Board of Mental Health with safeguarding and protecting the well being and general welfare of persons under its control. MISS. CODE ANN. § 41-4-1. In order to achieve this purpose, the Legislature entrusted *inter alia* the following powers to the State Board of Mental Health:

\* \* \* \*

(c) To supervise, coordinate and establish standards for all operations and activities of the state related to mental health and providing mental health services. . . .

\* \* \* \*

(g) To establish and promulgate reasonable minimum standards for the construction and operation of state and all Department of Mental Health certified facilities, including reasonable minimum standards for the admission, diagnosis, care, treatment, transfer of patients and their records, and also including reasonable minimum standards for providing day care, outpatient care, emergency care, inpatient care and follow-up care, when such care is provided by persons with mental or emotional illness, an intellectual disability, alcoholism, drug misuse and developmental disabilities;

MISS. CODE ANN. § 41-4-7.

The North Mississippi Regional Center at Oxford is subject to the jurisdiction and control of Defendant. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-11(2) (2010).

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The primary question before the lower court – whether Defendant was entitled to tort immunity pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) – required a two-prong analysis. First, the lower court had to decide whether the acts and omissions of Beckwith – a direct care worker and employee of Defendant – were discretionary acts or ministerial duties. Second, if the court found that the acts and omissions were discretionary, then the acts must involve more than a mere hint of social policy.

Before the lower court were the following undisputed facts. First, the Mississippi Legislature statutorily mandated that Defendant promulgate rules and regulations regarding standards for the operations and activities of the group home and its direct care workers, such as Beckwith. Second, Defendant memorialized those rules and regulations – specifically fire safety within the group home – in two publications: the ALA Handbook and the Policy and Procedure Manual from North Mississippi Regional Center. Third, the ALA Handbook specifically stated that (1) food preparation should be visible to staff; and (2) under no circumstances should any group home client ever handle fuel of any type or any other flammable substance. Fourth, Defendant required Beckwith to take a two-week training course, which focused on fire safety in the group home. Fifth, Defendant required Defendant to view a video entitled "Fire Safety," which further emphasized the importance of fire safety within the group home, and specifically cautioned against leaving flammable substances on top of the stove.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miss. Code Ann. §§ 41-4-1; 41-4-7

As the undisputed facts showed, there was both a statutory mandate by the legislature and specific rules and regulations promulgated by Defendant, which established certain ministerial duties for Defendant's direct care workers, such as Beckwith. Therefore, the lower court erred when it failed to find that Beckwith's duties regarding fire safety within the group home were ministerial duties, not random discretionary acts.

Although Defendant was not, and is not, able to meet the first prong of discretionary analysis, assuming *arguendo* that the first prong is met, Defendant still cannot show that Beckwith's acts and omissions were anything more than a bad judgment call by Beckwith, which was in direct violation of Defendant's rules and regulations. Arguing before the lower court, Defendant relied on the *Dancy* case for the proposition that the "group home program sought to 'integrate [its clients] into society as a whole, requiring a multitude of discretionary decisions by staff members . . . ." R:62-63. However, unlike the instant set of facts, there was no statutory mandate or specific rules and regulations in *Dancy*, so *Dancy* does not apply. Therefore, the lower court erred when it found that Defendant satisfied the second prong of discretionary analysis.

Finally, the lower court erred when it failed to find that Beckwith failed to exercise ordinary care as set forth in the rules and regulations of North Mississippi Regional Center as mandated by the Mississippi Legislature; therefore, Defendant was negligent.

Accordingly, the lower court should be reversed, and the case remanded in all aspects.

#### IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

When the Court reviews a trial court's disposition of a motion for summary judgment, it must reach its own conclusions as to the applicable law and how it should be applied. *Miss. Dept. of Mental Health and Ellisville State School v. Shaw*, 45 So.3d 656, 658 (Miss. 2010). "The same

standard applies to 'proper application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act." *Id.* A trial court should grant summary judgment only when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Fortenberry v. City of Jackson*, Nos. 2008-CT-00270-SCT, 2008-CT-00271-SCT, 2011 WL 448354, at \*2 (Miss. 2011)(quoting Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 (c)). The moving party has the burden of proof and must demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact. *Id.* "Review of a government entity's immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act triggers *de novo* review, since immunity is a question of law." *Id.* 

B. There is no tort immunity for Defendant pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d), because Defendant cannot satisfy either prong of discretionary exemption analysis.

While the Mississippi Legislature has waived sovereign immunity in most contexts, § 11-46-9 sets forth a list of twenty -five (25) situations in which sovereign immunity still applies. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1). "Consistent with its long-standing disapproval of sovereign immunity as a defense, the Supreme Court has interpreted these statutory remnants of sovereign immunity strictly against the State, and in favor of recovery." Robert A. Weems & Robert M. Weems, Mississippi Law of Torts § 16.22, (Dec. 2009).

At issue in this appeal is the so-called discretionary exemption or MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d). In order for there to be immunity for Defendant, the Court must conduct a two-pronged analysis. Jim Fraiser, Recent Developments in Mississippi Tort Claims Act Law Pertaining to Notice of Claim and Exemptions to Immunity Issues: Substantial/Strict Compliance, Discretionary Acts, Police Protection and Dangerous Conditions, 76 Miss. L.J. 973, 987 (Spring, 2007). If the Court

finds that Beckwith's acts and omissions were legally mandated by law, ordinance or regulation, and thus, were ministerial duties, the analysis ends and there is no tort immunity for Defendant. *Id.* at 988. However, if the Court finds that Beckwith's actions were not legally mandated by law, ordinance or regulation, but instead were merely discretionary acts, then the Court must also find under the second prong of the analysis that Beckwith's acts involved potential considerations of social, economic or political policy alternatives. *Id.* at 988 - 989. Both prongs of the discretionary analysis must be satisfied in order for there to be tort immunity for Defendant. *Id.* Moreover, a mere hint of social policy is not sufficient to satisfy the second prong. *Pritchard v. Von Houten and The U. of S. Miss.*, 960 So.2d 568, 583 (Ct. App. 2007).

As set forth more fully below, the Mississippi Legislature mandated that Defendant promulgate rules and regulations regarding the group home and its direct care workers; thus, Beckwith had ministerial duties to safeguard the environment within the group home. These duties were not discretionary. Nonetheless, assuming *arguendo* that Beckwith's duties were <u>not</u> mandated by both state law and the rules and regulations as promulgated by Defendant, the lower court erroneously accepted Defendant's claim that Beckwith's acts and omissions implicated social policy. Simply put, Beckwith's acts and omissions were nothing more than a bad judgment decision.

Accordingly, there is no tort immunity for Defendant pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9(1)(d).

1. Beckwith failed to adhere to the statutory mandate of the rules and regulations as pertaining to fire safety within the group home as promulgated by Defendant; therefore, the lower court erred when it found that Defendant satisfied the first prong of discretionary analysis.

A duty is ministerial, not discretionary, if it is imposed by law and its performance is not dependent on the employee's judgment. *Miss. Dept. of Mental Health v. Hall*, 936 So.2d 917, 924

(Miss. 2006). Ministerial duties are defined as those duties that are positively designated, and are not dependant on the use of judgment or discretion. Jeffrey Jackson and Mary Miller, ENCYCLOPEDIA OF MISS. LAW, § 67:35 (Sept. 2010). In a nutshell, if there is a law, ordinance or regulation that requires an act to be performed in a certain way, it is a ministerial duty, not a discretionary act. Fraiser, 76 Miss. L.J. at 992. More importantly, if a statute, regulation, or policy specifically prescribes a course of action for an employee to follow, because the employee has no option but to adhere to the directive, then the duty is ministerial, not a discretionary act. Fortenberry, 2011 WL 448354, at \*2 (citing United States v. Gaubert, 499 U. S. 315, 322 (1991)).

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