PAGE:
Table of Aut	horities ii
Statement of	the Issues
Statement of	Case
A.	Course of Proceedings an Disposition Below
В.	Statement of the Facts
Summary of	the Argument4
Argument .	5
A.	The Mental Health Department is not liable for its employee's discretionary acts
В.	The Mental Health Department owed no duty to the House owners and insurer
C.	The Mental Health Department did not cause the fire which destroyed the house
~	

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Mental Health Department exists to provide services to Mississippi residents who are intellectually disabled. Through the Regional Center and its related programs, the Mental Health Department strives to provide its clients with the skills necessary to function as independent members of society. The group home on Beanland Avenue in Oxford housed five advanced clients who operated independently in many respects. Christy Beckwith served as one of the direct care workers assigned to live in the group home in case of accidents and emergencies. She, along with the other direct care workers, used her judgment and discretion in deciding the degree and extent of independence to provide the tenant-clients. The fire in April 2007 was unfortunate. However, the discretionary function exception to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act clearly exempts the Mental Health Department from any liability for damages to Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau.

The Mental Health Department did not owe any duty to Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau. The purpose of the Mental Health Department, as set forth by statute and as outlined in its manuals and handbooks, relates to the safety and security of its patients. The responsibilities and guidelines adopted by the Regional Center (and under which Christy Beckwith worked) were designed to protect the clients and to provide them with new skills and abilities as they progressed toward self-sufficiency. None of the guidelines existed for the purpose of protecting a group home property owner (or its insurer) who had entered a lease with certain Regional Center clients.

Finally, Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau offered no evidence that Christy Beckwith caused the fire. In fact, they offered no evidence of any cause for the fire or the manner in which Christy Beckwith's conduct led to the fire. They have not indicated what Beckwith should have done differently to prevent the fire from occurring.

#### ARGUMENT

## A. The Mental Health Department is not liable for its employee's discretionary acts.

Governmental entities are exempt from liability in certain situations.<sup>4</sup> This exemption is "an entitlement not to stand trial rather than a mere defense to liability . . . . Therefore, immunity is a question of law and is a proper matter for summary judgment under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56." This Court reviews *de novo* findings concerning governmental tort immunity.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* at § 11-46-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mitchell v. City of Greenville, 846 So.2d 1028, 1029 (Miss. 2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Fortenberry v. City of Jackson, 2011 WL 448354 at \*2 (Miss. February 10, 2011).

A governmental entity's acts can be ministerial, discretionary or neither.<sup>7</sup> The Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") exempts a governmental entity and its employees from tort liability "[b]ased upon the exercise or performance [of] . . . a discretionary function or duty on the part of a governmental entity or employee thereof, whether or not the discretion be abused." Under the "public policy approach" used in Mississippi, immune discretionary conduct includes those acts "which promote some social, economic or political policy."

Notably, as provided by statute, immunity under the Act applies even when the employee is found to have abused its discretion. This provision promotes the intent of the Tort Claims Act: "to promote efficient and timely decision-making [by government officials] without fear of liability. This . . . works to encourage free participation and hinder fear that goes with risk-taking situations and the exercise of sound judgment."<sup>10</sup>

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted a two-part analysis to determine when governmental conduct is discretionary: (i) whether the activity involved an element of choice or judgment; and, if so, (ii) whether the choice or judgment in supervision involves social, economic, or political policy alternatives.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Miss. Dept. of Mental Health v. Shaw, 45 So.3d 656, 658-59 (Miss. 2010).

<sup>8</sup> Miss. Code § 11-46-9(d) (see Appendix).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Shaw, 45 So.3d at 659.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Id. (citing Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Cargile, 847 So. 2d 258, 268 (Miss.2003)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Id. (citing Bridges v. Pearl River Valley Wather Supply Dist., 793 So. 2d 584, 588 (Miss. 2001)).

A duty is discretionary if it requires the use of judgment or discretion.<sup>12</sup> Here, there is no dispute that Beckwith's work activities necessarily involved elements of choice or judgment each day she supervised the clients assigned to the group home on Beanland Avenue. She constantly determined when she should permit the clients to act alone and when she should assist them in their daily living activities, all in an effort to achieve the agency's goal: maximum client independence.

Just as clearly, the choice and judgments required of Beckwith "emanate[d] from, [and] relate[d] to, matters of human welfare", thus falling squarely into the social policy alternatives category of the second prong of the two-part analysis. The group home program sought to "integrate [its clients] into society as a whole, requiring a multitude of discretionary decisions by staff members . . . ." Beckwith permitted the Beanland home clients to undertake virtually all daily activities without her direct involvement, limiting her role to driving and assisting in cases of emergency. The policy adopted by the Regional Center reflected a desire to decrease the clients' dependence on the State and to increase their ability to be self-sufficient.

The Mississippi Supreme Court faced a similar (but more tragic) situation in *Dancy*. There, Glen Dancy, a mentally-ill patient at the East Mississippi State Hospital, sought damages from the Mental Health Department for injuries he suffered after escaping supervision while on a field trip to Wal-Mart. On Dancy's appeal of summary judgment, the Court recognized that the Mental Health Department had a goal of placing its patients "in the least restrictive environment that their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Dancy v. East Miss. State Hospital, 944 So.2d 10, 16 (Miss. 2006) (holding that activities involving "element of choice or judgment" satisfied first criteria).

<sup>13</sup> Id. at 17.

<sup>14</sup> Id.

<sup>15</sup> *Id.* at 11.

condition will allow" and "to provide each patient treatment in areas that will help them grow into a more stable and responsible person." Affirming the summary judgment, the Court concluded that "the choice and judgments required of state workers emanate from, or relate to, matters of human welfare," and the goal of this program was to "integrate these patients into society as a whole," therefore "unquestionably" involving social policy. 17

The Mississippi Legislature has specifically authorized the Mental Health Department to "establish and promulgate reasonable minimum standards" and policies. <sup>18</sup> The Mental Health Department (directly and through the Regional Center) has adopted those policies and empowered its direct care workers in group homes to use their discretion in observing clients with the purpose of increasing their independence.

In *Shaw*, the Mississippi Supreme Court recently distinguished decisions that are and are not grounded in policy. In that case, Ellisville State School held a fundraiser known as "Camp Fear" - - a Halloween event similar to a haunted house. Shaw, a patron at the event, missed one of the steps coming from the house, fell and sustained injuries, ultimately bringing suit against the School and the Mental Health Department. Department. Shaw is a patron at the event, missed one of the steps coming from the house, fell and sustained injuries, ultimately bringing suit against the School and the Mental Health Department.

Shaw argued that Camp Fear was a "commercial enterprise" and that "one operating a commercial establishment not remotely connected to the statutory mission of the institution cannot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id.* at 11-12, n 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id.* at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Miss. Code § 41-4-7(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Shaw, 45 So.3d at 657.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Id.

take advantage of the exemption."<sup>21</sup> However, the Supreme Court noted that Camp Fear was one of the school's fundraisers and the proceeds "furthered its mission of providing services for its clients."<sup>22</sup> In reversing the denial of summary judgment, the Court concluded that Camp Fear involved social and economic policy decisions and "so was a discretionary function that qualifies under the MTCA."<sup>23</sup> In explanation, the Court provided this example:

The decision by a bus driver to allow a claimant to exit a school bus at a particular intersection does not implicate policy, and is merely a judgment call, and thus not immunized by this exemption. However, a school board's decision to allow children to de-board buses during thunderstorms, at busy intersections, during nuclear attacks, etc., is a policy decision which may not be second guessed, even where ordinary care is not utilized by the board. Thus, if the board has decided that children may be let off at all intersections, then the driver's decision to do so is immunized as discretionary – i.e., as involving judgment-plus-policy considerations.<sup>24</sup>

The group home at issue in this lawsuit was used solely for the purpose of, as in *Shaw*, "providing care for, and treatment of, mentally retarded persons." The clients lived in the home and learned to do household chores to gain skills and become more self-sufficient, thus fulfilling the Mental Health Department's purpose. The Regional Center direct care workers assigned to the home made regular decisions guided by the goals adopted to further the Mental Health Department's social public policy decisions. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Mental Health Department is immune from liability for the claims related to the house fire.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Id.* at 660.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  Id.

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Id.

Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau attempt to impose on Christy Beckwith a "ministerial" duty "to be present in the group home in order to prevent an accident or an emergency", to keep the residents "under constant supervision", to prevent them from cooking "without supervision" and to require all food preparation to "be visible to staff. *See* Appellants' Brief, pp. 3-4. Neither the ALA Handbook nor Christy Beckwith's testimony support the imposition of these absolute duties.

Beackwith lived in the home with these five advanced clients to assist in their move toward total independence. She was there "in case of" accidents or emergencies, not to absolutely prevent them from occurring. R. 26. The clients were under constant supervision when she delivered them to work, but not in the sense that she constantly kept them within her eyesight within the group home. R. 12. The clients could cook for themselves to a certain level. R. 43. Finally, the ALA Handbook did not prohibit food preparation without supervision or require food preparation to be visible to the staff. Instead, consistent with the goals of the Mental Health Department, the Handbook expressly permitted the staff to exercise their judgment in determining "the degree of freedom or independent movement" for a client, especially when "that client is being prepared to move to a less restrictive environment." R. 149.<sup>26</sup>

Similarly, the decision in *Mississippi Department of Mental Health v. Hall*,<sup>27</sup> offers no help to the owners and insurers of the group home. In that case, the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded that the statutory duty owed by the Mental Health Department to psychiatric patients at the East Mississippi State Hospital included the obligation "to provide patients with mental health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> The reference to the prohibition concerning the handling of fuel or flammable substances is a red herring. There is no evidence that Christy Beckwith permitted one of the tenant-clients to handle any such substance in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> 936 So.2d 917 (Miss. 2006).

care and treatment in accord with contemporary professional standards."<sup>28</sup> As the result of expert testimony that the hospital had failed to comply with these duties owed to the patient (e.g., not locking doors, using security screens and monitoring unusual behavior), the Supreme Court affirmed judgment for the patient. However, the affirmative statutory duties imposed on the East Mississippi Mental Hospital do not apply to the Regional Center. Moreover, the Regional Center has not otherwise violated any duty owed to its clients. To the contrary, as the result of proper planning and training, Christy Beckwith safely evacuated all of the clients from the home during the fire.

### B. The Mental Health Department owed no duty to the house owners and insurer.<sup>29</sup>

The first requirement of tort liability is establishing a duty owed by the alleged tortfeasor to the alleged tort victim.<sup>30</sup> The existence of a duty is an issue of law for the Court to decide.<sup>31</sup>

Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau cite certain statutes and portions of manuals and handbooks which they suggest create some obligation on the part of Christy Beckwith to protect their property. However, contrary to their suggestion, the purpose of the guidelines in these manuals was not for the protection of third-party property owners but for the benefit of the clients of the Mental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.* at 925.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> This Court may affirm the Circuit Court on other grounds if it reached the right conclusion but for the wrong reason. *Harbit v. Harbit*, 3 So.2d 156, 163 (Miss. App. 2009) (citing *Mason v. S. Mortg. Co.*, 828 So.2d 735, 738 (¶ 15) (Miss.2002) ("An appellate court may affirm a trial court on other grounds if it finds that the trial court reached the right result despite its flawed or erroneous premises."). The Mental Health Department raised the lack of duty as grounds for summary judgment before the Circuit Court. R. 127; T. 5 and 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Lagrone and Moore entered a lease agreement with the five clients who occupied the home, not with the Regional Center. R. 16-19. They have not alleged, nor could they, any contractual obligation owed to them by the Mental Health Department.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Donald v. Amoco Production Co., 735 So.2d 161, 174 (Miss. 1999), cited in Knox v. Mahalite, \_\_ So.2d \_\_, 2011 WL 1122940 at \*3 (Miss. App. March 29, 2011).

Health Department through the Regional Center.<sup>32</sup> To the extent the statutes, manuals and handbooks create an affirmative "duty", the obligations exist for the sake of the clients. Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau can identify no duty owed to them by the Mental Health Department.

### C. The Mental Health Department did not cause the fire which destroyed the house.<sup>33</sup>

Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau contend that Christy Beckwith's conduct proximately caused the fire. To recover under their negligence theory, Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau must have established (i) a duty owed to them by the Mental Health Department; (ii) a breach of that duty; (iii) damages; and (iv) a causal connection between the breach and the damages, such that the breach is the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' damages.<sup>34</sup> Specifically, to avoid summary judgment, they bore the burden of presenting to the Circuit Court significant probative evidence that the Mental Health Department (acting through its employee) was negligent.<sup>35</sup>

Lagrone, Moore and Farm Bureau presented the Circuit Court with no evidence to suggest that Beckwith caused the fire through her own acts or omissions. First, Plaintiffs have never established a specific cause and origin for the fire. R. 51-54. Second, even if we assume that the fire originated on the stove, neither Lagrone nor Moore has any first hand knowledge that Beckwith caused the fire or any admissible evidence to establish that she caused the fire. *Id.* Beckwith did not turn on the stove to heat the grease for the french fries and does not know who did, assuming that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-1; R. 136-41 and 148-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The Mental Health Department also raised the lack of proof as to causation as a grounds for summary judgment. *See* R. 127 and T. 5 and 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Watson Quality Ford, Inc. v. Casanova, 999 So.2d 830, 835 (Miss. 2008).

<sup>35</sup> Mississippi Dept. of Transp. v. Cargile, 847 So.2d 258, 262 (Miss. 2003).

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